

Journal of Chromatography B, 781 (2002) 303-311

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

Study of metallothionein using capillary zone electrophoresis

Takeshi Minami^{a,*}, Seiji Ichida^b, Kanenobu Kubo^b

^aLaboratory of Environmental Biology, Department of Life Science, School of Science and Engineering, Kinki University, 3-4-1 Kowakae, Higashiosaka, Osaka 577-8502, Japan

^bSchool of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Kinki University, 3-4-1 Kowakae, Higashiosaka, Osaka 577-8502, Japan

Abstract

Metallothioneins (MTs) have many different functions in tissues, but the roles of individual isoforms are still not entirely clear. Capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) is a powerful method for the separation of substances because of its small sample requirement, rapid analysis, high sensitivity and high resolution. The separation and identification of mammalian MT-1, MT-2, and MT-3 and class III MTs by CZE has been reported. Uncoated and polyacrylamide-coated capillary tubes were recently used for the separation of MTs, and a UV detector is usually employed for observations of peaks of MTs. Small changes to the structure and metal components of MTs are reflected in the migration times of the peaks. N-acetylated and non-acetylated MTs can be separated and identified by CZE–mass spectrometry (MS). In addition, metal complexes with MTs can be characterized by CZE–proton-induced X-ray emission (PIXE) detector and CZE–inductively coupled plasma (ICP)–MS. For the quantification of an MT isoform, the peak area of UV absorption is used, but the technique has problems. One is lack of a purified isoform standard. The other is the need for a suitable internal standard substance. CZE–ICP–isotope dilution (ID)–MS is also reported to be able to quantify MT isoforms. CZE combined with other techniques is very effective for separation and quantitative and qualitative analyses of MT isoforms in biological materials. © 2002 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Metallothionein; Isoform

Contents

1.	Introduction	304
2.	General quantification and hyphenated techniques for MT	305
	2.1. Quantification methods for MT	305
	2.2. Separation methods and hyphenated techniques	305
3.	Capillary zone electrophoresis	305
	3.1. Comparison of CZE with other separation techniques	306
	3.2. Protein adsorption to capillary inner walls	306
	3.3. Merely a coating, but a coating nevertheless	306
	3.3.1. Coating of the capillary inner wall	306
	3.3.2. Zone electrophoresis in a polyacrylamide-coated capillary	306

*Corresponding author. Tel.: +81-6-6721-2332; fax: +81-6-6723-2721. *E-mail address:* minamita@msa.kindai.ac.jp (T. Minami).

4.	Study of MT using CZE	307
	4.1. Identification of MT isoforms by CZE	307
	4.1.1. Sample preparation	307
	4.1.2. Detection methods	308
	4.2. Properties of MT isoforms on CZE	309
	4.3. Quantification of MT isoforms by CZE	310
5.	Conclusion	310
Re	References	

1. Introduction

Metallothionein (MT) is a heat-stable low molecular mass protein found in the tissues of various species of animalia, plantae, and microbes. According to their structural characteristics, MTs have been classified among three groups and mammalian MTs are included in class I MTs [1]. MT proteins are rich in cysteine, but lack disulfide bonds, aromatic amino acids and histidine. Furthermore, MT shows highbinding capacities with metals. MT is capable of binding monovalent and divalent cations and reduces metal toxicity. The structure of MT consists of two domains. Divalent cations like zinc(II) bind four atoms in the α -domain and three atoms in the β domain. Monovalent cations like copper(I) bind six atoms in each domain [2]. In this way, all sulfhydryl groups in cysteine residues are used up to bind metals. MT has four major isoforms; MT-1 and MT-2 are acute phase proteins, while MT-3 and MT-4 are not.

MT-1 and MT-2 are expressed together in same certain in response to various stimulators such as metals, glucocorticoid, oxidative stress, cytokines, and so on. Certain metals bound both to MT-1 and to MT-2 can be easily exchanged for higher affinity metals. The functions of both MTs are divided broadly into four categories: (1) reducing metal toxicity, (2) maintenance of the homeostasis of essential metals, (3) scavenging of free radicals, (4) cell growth and proliferation [1,2]. Nevertheless, the difference in function between the two MTs is still unclear, although it has been stated that MT-1 mainly acts in metal metabolism and MT-2 in cell growth.

The MT-3 isoform was isolated from human brain and originally named growth inhibitory factor. Meanwhile, MT-4 was discovered in squamous epithelial cells. It was thought that neither isoform was an acute phase protein, but recently MT-3 was found to be induced by several stimuli in the brain. Also the level of MT-3 in the brain changes in patients with neurodisease [3,4]. Furthermore, immunohistochemically, both isoforms are stained in various organs. However, the study of MT-3 and MT-4 isoforms is yet to begin.

The study of MT in biological materials has employed the following methods: (1) quantification of MT in cells or tissues, (2) defense effects of MT after pre-induction of MT, (3) locality of induced-MT using immunostaining or immunoelectron microstaining, (4) detection of MT mRNA by RT-PCR, (5) experiments using MT knock-out or over-expression in mice, and (6) changes of MT protein structure.

There are several reviews for quantification [5,6], and Dabrio et al. [7] and Połeć et al. [8] recently reviewed MT quantification and hyphenated techniques. Therefore, the present review gives only an outline about general quantification and hyphenated techniques. Capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) has now taken the place of HPLC. However, proteins often adsorb to the inner wall of uncoated capillary tubes. Such unfavorable adsorption can be interrupted by modification of the wall by coating with neutral polymers like liner polyacrylamide or neutralizing of charges on the wall with ionic additives of countersign like polyamines. The aim of the present review is to introduce several techniques for examining the properties of MT isoforms using CZE, and to show the future study of MT using CZE. The term MT in the present review refers to both the MT-1 and MT-2 isoforms unless stated otherwise.

2. General quantification and hyphenated techniques for MT

2.1. Quantification methods for MT

The methods used to quantify the total amount of MT in biological materials are divided into two types according to specificity. One is based on the measurement of the amount of metal bound to MT. As metals bind proportionally to the amount of MT, metal contents indicate the MT content. The affinity to MT differs among metals $(Hg(II)>Ag(I)\sim Cu(I)>$ Cd(II)>Zn(II)) [2]. The MT produced in response to various stimuli is composed mostly of Zn, though higher affinity metals form different metal-thioneins. Therefore, the simplest method for the quantification of MT is the Cd-hem method [9]. The Cd-hem method utilizes two properties; that MT is a heatstable protein and that seven atoms of Cd instead of Zn bind one molar of MT protein when excess Cd is added to cytosol fraction. Hg- and Ag-saturation methods apply the same theory. The other method of quantifying the total amount of MT is based on the assay of protein content. The quantity of sulfhydryl residues can be used to measure MT protein content, while a radioimmunoassay (RIA) and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for MT protein have also been developed. Five of these methods for measuring MT; the Cd-hem method, Hg-saturation assay, RIA, thiolate group determination, and Sephadex G-75/atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) were compared based on recovery rates using standard MT [10]. A good rate was obtained using the RIA and Cd-hem methods (97±12 and $105\pm10\%$, respectively), whereas the recovery rates for Hg-saturation assay, thiolate group determination, and Sephadex G-75/AAS were not particularly high. In addition, ELISA and RIA show high sensitivity for determining MT levels in tissues, while the Cdhem method covers a wide range. Electroanalytical techniques are also used to quantify MT [11]

2.2. Separation methods and hyphenated techniques

If heat treatment is not desired for the quantification, or if the properties of each isoform are to be examined, a separation technique is used before the

detection. For separation, Sephadex G-75 gel permeation chromatography (GPC), anion-exchange chromatography, high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), and CZE are often used, while UV absorption, fluorescence detection, AAS, mass spectrometry (MS), and inductively coupled plasma (ICP)-MS are used for detection of MT. MT isoforms and MT content are assayed by using a combination of separation and detection techniques. Until recently, GPC-AAS, HPLC-AAS, and HPLC-UV were often used to identify the metal species binding MT and also for the quantification of the MT content of tissues. Using these techniques, the existence of not only MT isoforms but also MT dimer was established [12]. Recently, MS-combined techniques have been reported [8]. Numerous isoforms and sub-isoforms have been identified using HPLC-MS [13,14]. In addition, an oxidized form of MT was quantified by ICP-MS [15]. An ELISA can measure each MT isoform [16,17].

The mRNA levels of each isoform in tissue have been assayed by RT-PCR [7,18]. The human MT gene family has 17 genes (13 genes for MT-1, two for MT-2, one for MT-3, and one for MT-4) on chromosome 16 [1]. The change in gene expression depends on the organ and disease [19-21]. Why does the MT gene family have so many genes? Does the expression of each gene reflect an increase in the protein level of each MT isoform? Are there any differences in function between the isoforms? To answer these questions, it is necessary to study the expression of each gene and the function of each isoform. In addition, when examining the properties of an isoform, either HPLC or CZE is used to separate MT isoforms from biological specimens because the procedure is quick and requires little sample.

3. Capillary zone electrophoresis

A separation technique using CZE was developed in the 1990s and has been used in the study of MT since 1993 [22]. Early studies using CZE for MT analysis were to develop the most suitable conditions for the separation of MT. To this end, capillary tubes, electrolytes, instruments, detectors, and so on were examined [23–25]. Strategies for the study of MT using CZE were reviewed in 1998 [26]. To date, uncoated and polyacrylamide-coated capillaries have mainly been used for the analysis, and a previous review [26] recommended the use of borate-SDS electrolytes at an alkaline pH in uncoated capillaries. However, we found that Tris-HEPES buffer without detergents at a neutral pH gave the best resolution in polyacrylamide-coated capillaries [27]. Most promising techniques since the review was presented in 1998 may be the identification of each MT isoform and elements bound to MTs using proton-induced X-ray emission (PIXE), MS and ICP-MS after separation. However, as high resolution and rapid analysis are required for the separation of closely related isoforms, CZE using a UV detector is still suitable for this purpose.

3.1. Comparison of CZE with other separation techniques

When the fraction, in which zinc was detected, of the cytosol of zinc-treated sheep effluent from Sephadex G-75 was subjected to CZE with an uncoated capillary, very clear peaks of MT-1 and MT-2 were obtained and no further chromatographic analysis was needed [22]. When the separation of purified MT was achieved by uncoated-capillary CZE and by reversed-phase (RP) HPLC, using a C₈ column eluted with a linear acetonitrile gradient, many more peaks could be detected by CZE than HPLC [28]. While RP-HPLC separates proteins based on differences in hydrophobicity, CZE utilizes a combination of differences in mass and charge. Therefore, CZE is effective for the separation of MT analogues.

3.2. Protein adsorption to capillary inner walls

Proteins easily adsorb to the inner walls of capillary tubes when the silanol groups of the walls are ionized to a pH of 3 or more. In CZE with small amounts of protein as sample, this kind of adsorption is fatal. For example, 50% or more of the myoglobin fluorescent marker is adsorbed at pH 5.5–7.0 [29]. Under these conditions, a high resolution that reflects subtle differences in the charge is not possible for proteins.

For the CZE of MT isoforms in uncoated capillaries, buffer solutions with additives such as sodium

dodecyl sulfate (SDS) [30,31] or methanol [32] have been used to obtain high resolution. These additives have the effect not only of reducing protein-wall interaction, but also of interacting to MTs. Improvement in the separation or resolution of MT isoforms from chicken liver extract was achieved by increasing the SDS concentration contained in 100 mM sodium borate buffer pH 8.4, although the migration times of each peak were longer [26]. A similar effect was achieved by using a 150-150 mM Tris-tricine buffer system (pH 7.75) containing methanol (30-40%, v/v) [32]. The other technique to reduce protein-wall interaction using uncoated capillaries is to analyze at low pH. However, MTs are unstable at pH 2.5 as metals dissociate from the MTs and metal-free proteins, apothioneins, are detected.

3.3. Merely a coating, but a coating nevertheless

The choice of conditions such as the type of capillary, buffer concentration, buffer composition, pH, temperature, and voltage decide the resolution of the MT isoforms to be separated by CZE. Uncoated capillaries offer advantages in terms of analysis time and capillary lifespan, whereas surface-modified capillaries enhance the resolution of MT isoforms.

3.3.1. Coating of the capillary inner wall

The purpose of modifying the inner wall of the capillary tube is suppression of protein adsorption and restriction or reversal of osmotic flow. A modification of the capillary inner wall to suppress protein adsorption necessarily suppresses osmotic flow. Details about coatings are described in recent issues of *Electrophoresis* [33,34].

In the separation of MT isoforms, polyacrylamide-, polyamine-, and sulfonic acid-coated capillaries have been used [27,35–38]. The polyacrylamide coating procedure used in our studies is illustrated in Fig. 1. MT specimens migrated at a pH near neutral or slightly higher when applied to these coated capillaries. CZE with a linear polyacrylamide-coated capillary is carried out in the absence of such additives as dynamic coating agents.

3.3.2. Zone electrophoresis in a polyacrylamidecoated capillary

When a commercially available MT-1 standard prepared from rabbit liver was loaded onto uncoated

A fused-silica capillary (75 mm i.d., 45 cm)

Making a UV detection window 11 cm from one end
Aspiration
distilled water for 5 min
• 0.1M-HCl for 5 min
distilled water for 5 min
0.1M-NaOH (correctly) for 5 min
distilled water for 5 min
← 0.1M-HCl for 5 min
← distilled water for 5 min
← acetone for 10 min
50%(v/v) Silane/acetone for 15 min
↓ ← 100% Silane for 15 min
The tube filled with Silane is kept overnight at room temperature
+ 100% Silane for 5 min
acetone for 20 min or over
distilled water for 10 min or over
Mixed acrylamide solution
(Mixed solution must be prepared in ice water)
Gradual warming to 75 °C over 1 hour
Stand overnight at room temperature
•
2 days later
remove the solution from the end of the capillary by flushing out
using distilled water and HPLC pump
Cut both ends of capillary to give a total length of 33 cm and an effective length of 25 cm
Silane: 3 methacryloxypropyl trimethoxysilane
Mixed acrylamide solution
200 ml of 7% (w/v) monoacrylamide/50 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.0
5 ml of 10% (w/v) ammonium persulfate/buffer
5 ml of 10% (v/v) TEMED/huffer

Fig. 1. Preparation of polyacrylamide-coated capillary.

(a) Polyacrylamide-coated capillary



Fig. 2. Electropherograms of commercially available MT-1 isoforms using polyacrylamide-coated and uncoated capillaries. Commercially available standard MT-1 (0.1 mg/ml, rabbit liver, Sigma) was loaded onto the column for 5 s by gravity. HEPES–Tris buffer (50 m*M*, pH 7.4) served as the running buffer. The analysis was performed at 25 kV and 26 ± 1 °C and monitored at 214 nm. Reproduced with permission from [46].

and polyacrylamide-coated capillaries, and electrophoresis was performed at 25 kV, and 26±1 °C using 50 mM HEPES-Tris buffer (pH 7.4), and monitored at 214 nm, the specimen showed ten or more peaks on the coated capillary, but only three wide peaks on the uncoated capillary (Fig. 2) [39]. Both MT-1 and MT-2 were detected within 15 min on the polyacrylamide-coated capillary. As the inlet was the cathode, MT-2 migrated faster than MT-1 under conditions of no osmotic flow on the coated capillary. These results show that CZE in a polyacrylamide-coated capillary tube is an efficient measure of the separation of MTs with many isoforms because it can be done in a buffer solution of near physiological pH that would be expected to reflect subtle differences in the charge of the amino acid side-chain ionizable for proteins.

4. Study of MT using CZE

The study of MT using CZE can be divided into the following steps: (1) estimating the properties of each isoform, and (2) quantifying the isoforms. Recently, sub-isoforms and non-acetylated isoforms were found using CZE–MS [40,41], and elements combined with MT isoforms were detected by CZE– ICP–MS [4] and CZE–PIXE [42].

4.1. Identification of MT isoforms by CZE

4.1.1. Sample preparation

A very small volume of sample (less than 100 nl) is subjected to CZE, and the analysis is performed quickly (within 15 min). Therefore, as described in the previous review [26], it is important to prepare stabilized, concentrated, and relatively contaminantfree samples for loading onto the capillary. When a cytosol fraction prepared from 10% homogenate is directly subjected to CZE, many peaks are detected on the electropherogram, and some may co-migrate with MT isoforms [43]. Given that MT-1 and MT-2 isoforms containing zinc and/or cadmium are heatstable, applying the supernatant of the cytosol after heat treatment is a simple technique [44]. The majority of proteins other than MTs can be removed from the cytosol fraction by heat treatment within 2 min and standard MT-1 and MT-2 are stable to the treatment. Conversely, MTs containing copper are not stable against heat treatment. Usage of either a molecular filtration unit or solid-phase extraction is a better technique for enhancing the selectivity and sensitivity [45]. Furthermore, after partial purification, stored MTs are not stable on CZE, even if stored at -80 °C [46,47].

4.1.2. Detection methods

Detection methods for separated MT isoforms include UV absorption, PIXE, and MS.

UV absorption is often used after separation because of its convenience. From its high intensity, absorbance of 200 or 214 nm is generally used for detection of peaks in CZE. In addition, a method in which migration times are compared with those of purified isoforms is generally employed [27]. However, the matrix components in the specimen, the viscosity, and the life span of the capillary affect the migration time, even if no contaminants co-migrate with the isoforms.

As the metal-thiolate bonds in MTs exhibit distinct absorption spectra, it is possible to obtain spectral information concerning all separated components by monitoring simultaneously at different wavelengths such as 200, 214, 254, and 280 nm [26,30]. For example, apothionein shows low absorbance at 220 nm and above. The Zn–S bond shows a low-energy charge-transfer transition band at 231 nm, the Cd–S bond at 250 nm, and aromatic amino acids at 280 nm. Therefore, it is possible to speculate from the absorbance at 214 and 280 nm whether the peak is an MT isoform or not.

A more direct method is to add anti-MT monoclonal antibody to the specimen [48]. When MT-1 and MT-2 were mixed with anti-MT antibody, and subjected to CZE, the peaks of MT-1 and MT-2 decreased in height compared to those without the antibody dependent on time, enabling us to identify then. However, as the anti-MT antibody is expensive, it is impractical to regularly use large volumes for identification. We, therefore, developed a rapid and simple method to detect and identify MT isoforms with high efficiency. Incidentally, as the peaks of MT isoforms decreased on CZE after the addition of excess Cd to the specimen [49], EDTA was added at different concentrations, and CZE performed [50]. Within a narrow range of EDTA concentrations, the MT peaks were recovered, while

beyond this range, they disappeared again. Thus, the two peaks were confirmed as MT-1 and MT-2 based on migration times that corresponded with those of the purified MT isoforms, and the decay of their peaks following the addition of EDTA, which depended on incubation time and concentration added, as shown in Fig. 3. The unfolding of metal-mercaptide transitions and/or polymerized adducts may decrease the absorption of UV after EDTA, although the mechanism is not clear. Therefore, both isoforms can be identified by CZE with or without the addition of EDTA. Similarly, for the several minor peaks that are expected to be MT isoforms, a decay of the peaks was observed. As both N-acetylated and non-acetylated forms were observed on CZE-MS [41] and HPLC-ICP-MS [51], and as the minor peaks also migrated dependent on pH, those minor peaks may have been MT sub-isoforms.

PIXE detector is metal-specific as well as fist-



Fig. 3. Effect of EDTA on heat-treated cytosol fraction of Zninjected mouse liver. (a) Heat-treated cytosol fraction. The specimen was incubated with EDTA for 2 (b) and 15 min (c). The specimen was loaded onto the polyacrylamide-coated column for 10 s by gravity and monitored at 214 nm. HEPES–Tris buffer (50 m*M*, pH 7.4) served as the running buffer. The analysis was performed at 20 kV and 26 ± 1 °C. Reproduced with permission from [50].

sensitive and of great use for the characterization of MT isoforms separated by CZE [42]. Neither the separation conditions nor the buffer composition interfered with the generation of the X-ray signals. By using a PIXE, metals bound to MT isoforms can be identified easily and with accuracy. In addition, it was reported that PIXE had lower detection limits than UV in some cases [42].

As described above, MS is the most suitable method for the identification of separated MT isoforms by CZE. While CZE-MS can provide specific molecular information, CZE-ICP-sector field MS can obtain the simultaneous information on the elements bound with MT isoforms as ICP-MS can detect elemental intensity. Recently, MT-3 as well as MT-1 and MT-2 were detected in the cytosol fraction of human brain using CZE-ICP-MS [4,8]. Levels of MT isoforms can be quantified by CZE-ICP-sector field MS using the sulfur isotope dilution method [4]. Measuring the amounts of elements such as sulfur, zinc, cadmium, and copper in MT isoforms simultaneously allows for the characterization of the metal-thionein complex in MT isoforms. Furthermore, by adding an isotope like ⁶³Cu to MT samples,

all isoforms can be detected and quantified. In human brain, MT-1 and MT-3 levels in temporal and occipital regions were reported to be lower in patients with Alzheimer's disease than in control subjects using CZE–ICP–MS. The detection limit of CZE–ICP–MS for MT-1, MT-2, and MT-3 based on ⁶⁴Zn was 2.02, 5.45, and 7.6 μ g/ml, respectively, and the MT-1 and MT-2 concentration based on ¹¹⁴Cd was 0.011 and 0.023 μ g/ml, respectively [4].

4.2. Properties of MT isoforms on CZE

As the peak migrated at different times even if the pH was changed slightly from 7.60 to 7.70 as shown in Fig. 4, the migration is affected even when one amino acid of the protein component is modified, and when the metal component is different. The change in the ratio of MT-1 to MT-2 in tissues after induction is easily observed by CZE. In addition, effects of substances that interact with MTs directly, like metals, chelators, and free radicals, are also observed by changes in migration times and peak areas. Furthermore, when the peaks of sub-isoforms and non-acetylated isoforms are identified by UV



Fig. 4. Effect of pH on the separation of cytosol fraction of Zn-injected mouse pancreas. Heat-treated cytosol fraction was loaded onto the polyacrylamide-coated column for 5 s by gravity and monitored at 214 nm. HEPES–Tris buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4) served as the running buffer. The analysis was performed at 20 kV and 26 ± 1 °C. Reproduced with permission from [46].

detector following the peaks are pre-identified by MS and other techniques, the function of each MT isoform may be elucidated further.

As described above, metal components and ratios in MTs are also determined using PIXE and ICP– MS detector. Further investigation may begin in this area.

The analysis of class III MTs like phytochelatins as well as MT isoforms has been developing based on CZE analysis [52]. Phytochelatins $[(\gamma-Glu-Cys)_n-Gly, n\geq 2]$ are produced in plants in response to heavy metals, and the separated peaks of GSH, γ -glutamylcysteine, and phytochelatins (n=2-9) can be observed by CZE.

4.3. Quantification of MT isoforms by CZE

The detection limits and linear ranges of various methods are summarized in a recent review [7]. For CZE analysis in the quantification of MT, the peak area on the UV detector is usually used. We quantified MT-1 and MT-2 contents by CZE using a polyacrylamide-coated capillary at a neutral pH without any detergents, and obtained a good linear correlation between the concentration of MT isoforms and the peak areas from 5 to 100 μ g/ml [53]. Conversely, however, there are two major problems with the quantification of MT isoforms in biological materials using a UV detector for CZE. One is the normalization of MT isoforms. Commercially available standards of MT isoforms are not adequate for use in CZE; for example, the MT-1 standard produced many peaks including MT-2 on CZE. Even if the standards are quantified by other methods like ELISA, the data can not be used to evaluate the content of the peaks observed by CZE. It is usually difficult to prepare standards that show a single peak because CZE has high-resolution efficiency. The other problem is how to maintain constant analytical conditions. Due to differences in the viscosities of specimens and in life span of capillaries, an internal standard is required for CZE. We selected a carbonic anhydrase as internal standard. Since heat treatment, molecular filtration or solid-phase extraction must be performed before the analysis, it is normal to add internal standard to specimens after such treatments, but it is desirable to add the standard to the homogenizing medium prior to homogenization.

The ICP–isotope dilution (ID) MS method combined with CZE is used for the quantification of MT isoforms [4]. The principle behind the method is that concentrated sulfur isotope mixtures on-line with substances separated by CZE and the ratio of ³²S/ ³⁴S are calculated. Using a molar ratio of 21 sulfur atoms per molecule, the quantities of the MT isoforms are calculated. In addition, in combination with the detection of metals in peaks, peaks of each MT like MT-1, MT-2, and MT-3 can be detected and concentrations can be calculated without a standard curve. A constant sample flow-rate into plasma for ICP–MS and a constant mixture of diluted isotope are needed for quantification.

5. Conclusion

MT in mammals has four major isoforms, and the MT gene in humans is located on chromosome 16 with at least ten genes being functional [1]. The roles of individual MT isoforms in tissues are not well known; especially the biological and physiological functions. Recently, the existence of different forms of MT, i.e. sub-isoforms, non-acetylated products, metal complexes, and a dimer have been reported using CZE with UV and other detectors. CZE in a coated capillary, which is a powerful technique for the separation of protein isoforms and has gained general acceptance, appears to give a resolution that is higher than that of CZE in a bare capillary. Many isoforms, MT-1, MT-2, MT-3, and class III MTs in plants have been detected by CZE. MT-3 and MT-4 in various kinds of organs will be found if CZE is performed in either a coated or a bare capillary in the near future. The peaks of MTs separated by CZE can be easily identified based on migration times, if any purified MTs prove an effective marker for UV absorption. Therefore, the use of PIXE, MS, and ICP-MS in combination with CZE is expected as a detection technique to discover unknown MT components within peaks separated by CZE. By applying the above techniques, the MT peaks detected on UV absorption may be realized in more detail. Further information on the characteristics and quantities of individual isoforms will be revealed in the near future.

References

- A.T. Miles, G.M. Hawksworth, J.H. Beattie, V. Rodilla, Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35 (2000) 35.
- [2] P. Moffatt, F. Denizeau, Drug Metab. Rev. 29 (1997) 261.
- [3] C.A. Sogawa, M. Asanuma, N. Sogawa, I. Miyazaki, T. Nakanishi, H. Furuta, N. Ogawa, Acta Med. Okayama 55 (2001) 1.
- [4] A. Prange, D. Schaumlöffel, P. Brätter, A.-N. Richarz, C. Wolf, Fresenius J. Anal. Chem. 371 (2001) 764.
- [5] M. Sato, K.T. Suzuki, Biomed. Res. Trace Elem. 6 (1995) 13.
- [6] M.P. Waalkes, in: J.A. Thomas (Ed.), Endocrine Methods, Academic Press, New York, 1996, p. 371.
- [7] M. Dabrio, A.R. Rodriguez, G. Bordin, M.J. Bebianno, M. De Ley, I. Šestáková, M. Vašák, M. Nordberg, J. Inorg. Biochem. 88 (2002) 123.
- [8] K. Połeć, M. Peréz-Calvo, O. García-Arribas, J. Szpunar, B. Ribas-Ozonas, R. Łobiński, J. Inorg. Biochem. 88 (2002) 197.
- [9] S. Onosaka, K. Tanaka, M. Doi, K. Okahara, Eisei Kagaku 24 (1978) 128.
- [10] H.H. Dieter, L. Müller, J. Abel, K.-H. Summer, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 85 (1986) 380.
- [11] R. Kizek, L. Tmková, E. Paleček, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 4801.
- [12] K.T. Suzuki, M. Ymamura, Biochem. Pharmacol. 29 (1980) 689.
- [13] H. Chassaigne, R. Lobinski, Analyst 123 (1998) 2125.
- [14] Y. Hathout, K.J. Reynolds, Z. Szilagyi, C. Fenselau, J. Inorg. Biochem. 88 (2002) 119.
- [15] J.P. Valles Mota, A.R. Linde Arias, M.R. Fernandez de la Campa, J.I. Garcia Alonso, A. Sanz-Medel, Anal. Biochem. 282 (2000) 194.
- [16] H.M. Chan, M.G. Cherian, I. Bremner, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 116 (1992) 267.
- [17] D.M. Kloth, J.L. Chin, M.G. Cherian, Br. J. Cancer 71 (1995) 712.
- [18] M.-C. Huang, P.K. Pan, Z.F. Zheng, N.C. Chen, J.Y. Peng, P.C. Huang, Gene 211 (1998) 49.
- [19] E.L. Duncan, R.R. Reddel, Oncogene 18 (1999) 897.
- [20] S.H. Garrett, M.A. Sens, D. Shukla, L. Flores, S. Somji, J.H. Todd, D.A. Sens, Prostate 43 (2000) 125.
- [21] M. Kantorow, T. Kays, J. Horwitz, Q. Huang, J. Sun, J. Piatigorsky, D. Carper, Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 39 (1998) 2344.
- [22] J.H. Beattie, M.P. Richards, R. Self, J. Chromatogr. 632 (1993) 127.
- [23] J.H. Beattie, M.P. Richards, J. Chromatogr. A 700 (1995) 95.
- [24] V. Virtanen, G. Bordin, A.-R. Rodriguez, J. Chromatogr. A 734 (1996) 391.

- [25] G.-Q. Liu, W. Wang, X.-Q. Shan, J. Chromatogr. B 653 (1994) 41.
- [26] J.H. Beattie, Talanta 46 (1998) 255.
- [27] T. Minami, H. Matsubara, M. O-higashi, N. Otaki, M. Kimura, K. Kubo, N. Okabe, Y. Okazaki, J. Chromatogr. B 685 (1996) 353.
- [28] M.P. Richards, J.H. Beattie, J. Chromatogr. 648 (1993) 459.
- [29] B. Verzola, C. Gelfi, P.G. Righetti, J. Chromatogr. A. 868 (2000) 85.
- [30] J.H. Beattie, M.P. Richards, J. Chromatogr. A 664 (1994) 129.
- [31] V. Virtanen, G. Bordin, Biomed. Chromatogr. 14 (2000) 39.
- [32] V. Virtanen, G. Bordin, Anal. Chim. Acta 372 (1998) 231.
- [33] P.G. Righetti, C. Gelfi, B. Verzola, L. Castelletti, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 603.
- [34] J. Horvath, V. Dolnik, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 644.
- [35] M.P. Richards, J. Chromatogr. B 657 (1994) 345.
- [36] M.P. Richards, P.J. Aagaard, J. Capillary Electrophor. 1 (1994) 90.
- [37] M.P. Richards, J.H. Beattie, J. Chromatogr. B 669 (1995) 27.
- [38] V. Virtanen, G. Bordin, Biomed. Chromatogr. 14 (2000) 37.
- [39] T. Minami, K. Kubo, S. Ichida, Rec. Res. Dev. Pure Appl. Anal. Chem. 3 (2001) 107.
- [40] Q. Lu, S.M. Bird, R.M. Barnes, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 2949.
- [41] J.H. Beattie, A.M. Wood, G.J. Duncan, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 1613.
- [42] H. Wittrisch, S. Conradi, E. Rohde, J. Vogt, C. Vogt, J. Chromatogr. A 781 (1997) 407.
- [43] T. Minami, C. Yoshita, M. Tanaka, K. Kubo, N. Okabe, Y. Okazaki, Talanta 46 (1998) 347.
- [44] K. Kubo, Y. Sakita, T. Minami, Analusis 28 (2000) 366.
- [45] C.B. Knudsen, J.H. Beattie, J. Chromatogr. A 792 (1997) 463.
- [46] T. Minami, Y. Sakita, K. Kubo, N. Okabe, Y. Okazaki, S. Tohno, Y. Tohno, M.-o. Yamada, Cell. Mol. Biol. 44 (1998) 285.
- [47] K. Nöstelbacher, M. Kirchgessner, G.I. Stangl, J. Chromatogr. B 744 (2000) 273.
- [48] K. Kubo, Y. Sakita, Y. Okazaki, N. Otaki, M. Kimura, T. Minami, J. Chromatogr. B 736 (1999) 185.
- [49] T. Minami, H. Matsubara, M. O-higashi, K. Kubo, N. Okabe, Y. Okazaki, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 1602.
- [50] K. Kubo, Y. Sakita, N. Otaki, M. Kimura, T. Minami, J. Chromatogr. B 742 (2000) 193.
- [51] Y. Ogra, K.T. Suzuki, J. Chromatogr. B 735 (1999) 17.
- [52] H. Kubota, K. Sato, T. Yamada, T. Maitani, J. Chromatogr. A 803 (1998) 315.
- [53] T. Minami, Y. Tohno, Y. Okazaki, K. Kubo, N. Otaki, M. Kimura, Anal. Chim. Acta 372 (1998) 241.